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The Confederates Are Coming 
As told to Ervin Schaedler by Otto Kreienkamp (date of interview unknown) 
 
During the Civil War a member of the Kreienkamp family was in the home guard. The commander of the 
home guard received word that the Confederate Army under the command of General Sterling Price 
was in Washington and Union, Missouri and was approaching the town of Pacific and surrounding area. 
The Military Officers in control thought the Confederates would try to march on St. Louis going up the 
valley what is now Highway I-44 destroying everything in their path. The home guard got orders to 
defend the railroad bridges over Fox Creek and to hold them at all costs. It was afternoon by the time 
the home guard arrived at the bridges. The officer in charge selected two volunteers to serve as cooks 
and prepare the evening meal while the rest of the troops dug trenches and threw up earthen 
barricades to defend the bridges. One of the cooks was the Kreienkamp family member. The cooks 
decided it would not be a bad duty since it was easier than digging. Since neither of them knew how to 
cook they consulted the Army Manual. They checked the supplies and the only thing they had to cook 
was several bags of rice. The Army Manual said the standard ration of rice was one cup of rice per man. 
They measured out one cup of rice per man and put it in a big iron kettle, added some water and started 
to cook. The rice soon swelled up and was too much for the kettle. They got what additional pots and 
pans they had and before long everything was full of rice. The rice in the kettle was either burning or 
running over. Having no more containers, the cooks finally got a blanket and spread it on the ground 
and shoveled rice out of the kettle on the blanket. The Battle for the Fox Creek Railroad Bridges was 
never fought as the Confederate Army advanced to about one-half mile east of Pacific when they had to 
retreat south. 
 
<<<<<end sidebar>>>>> 
 
The Pacific Battalion, also called Inks Battalion, was organized in June 1861 in Pacific, Missouri by Major 
William C. Inks, Pacific’s postmaster, and Captain Robert C. Allen. The Battalion, consisting of three 
hundred men in six companies, was one of more than fifty regiments within the Missouri Home Guard. 
Many of the men in Inks Battalion were old and not fit for active service, but some went on to serve in 
the Missouri Militia after their three months of service in the Home Guard. “The Battalion is generally 
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credited to Franklin County, but judging from its records (September 1861), it was apparently recruited 
from several counties…the chief service of the Company was to guard the railroad bridges from June 8th 
to 28th at Fox Creek, and after that date at Glencoe. The Company made two larger scouts into Jefferson 
County, infested at the time by notorious bushwacker Sam Hilderbrandt. These scouts were undertaken 
to secure safety to Union people, arrest marauding bands and seize contraband of war.” 
[“Pacific Battalion (Ink’s) Home Guard Infantry,” Volunteer Forces in the Civil War…Home Guard Units, 
http://www.usmo.com/~momollus/MOREG/HG.htm access 10/24/00.] 
 
Beginning in 1862 Home Guard units were replaced by militia regiments including the Missouri State 
Militia and the compulsory Enrolled Missouri Militia. At that time all men between the ages of 18 and 45 
were required to enroll, if they were not already in a state or federal military organization. 
 
William Haag was a farmer who lived near the town of Fox Creek. During the Civil War, Haag was a 
Captain in the Union Army and commanded the Missouri Home Guard’s Pacific Battalion, E Company.  
 
William Horstmann was a German immigrant and a resident of Dutch Hollow. In 1857 he married Mary 
Kreienkam, the daughter of Claumor Kreienkamp. Horstmann joined the Missouri Home Guard during 
the war and served three months as a private in Captain Haag’s company. Horstmann later paid $700 to 
a substitute to serve in his place in the regular Union Army for a period of three years.  
 

St. Louis Daily Globe-Democrat, September 26, 1880 
“…A reunion of the surviving members of the command was held yesterday 
at Dutch Hollow, in St. Louis County, on the Manchester Road, thirty miles 
from St. Louis, under perfect arrangements of Capt. R. C. Allen and Chris 
Moerschel, who also belonged to the battalion. 
 
Vehicles from the surrounding neighborhood, filled with happy-faced women 
and children swelled the procession that started with a hurrah and 
music…fully 1000 persons were on hand and took dinner, which was free to 
all. 
 
After dinner a bugle blast called the soldiers to the platform, where they 

formed a line. Capt. Allen, the senior officer of those now peaceful and gray-haired tillers of the soil, 
addressed them, saying he had not looked into the faces of some for nineteen years, since he had 
mustered and sworn them into the service under orders of Gen. Lyon.” 
[St. Louis Genealogical Society Quarterly, XXV] 
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Caption to 1880 Inks Battalion photo: In September of 1880, Inks Battalion held a reunion in Dutch 
Hollow (near or at the site of the current day Wildwood Historical Society) and this photograph was 
taken of the occasion. According to the above article in the St. Louis Globe-Democrat, the reunion and 
dinner attracted over 1,000 people. In the photograph, listed alphabetically, are: Captain R. C. Allen (in 
front), Captain William Haag, Captain Christ. Idel, Captain Adolph Sticker, Captain William Stosberg, 
William Bartold, Michael Bouquet, John C. Cloak, W.K. Cloak, John Demier, A. Dickuts, Philip Goebel, 
Peter Grub, Wm. A. F. Hartman, Gustav Hausgen, William Horstmann, Christ Klump, J. Kreienkamp, 
Charles Mueller, Henry Mulhas, Fritz Rosenbaum, Maurel Schuttig, Frederick Steines, Charles Strecker, 
R. Strecker, Butavus Stricker, and Herman Yeager.  
 
At its height approximately 19,000 men served in the Missouri Home Guard.  Many tombstones in 
present-day Wildwood cemeteries identify these veterans of the Civil War. 
[‘The Missouri Home Guard Poster’, WHS, © 2015] 
[“150th Anniversary of End of Civil War,” WHS 2015 Calendar, September.] 
 
 
 
 

Breaking Up of a Rebel Camp on the Meramec River 
 
Boone’s Regiment was organized by John C. Boone, grandson of Daniel Boone. This Confederate unit 
was formed in St. Louis in August of 1862. Boone recruited 100 men in just a few weeks and gathered 
them in south St. Louis County. Union Home Guards located the rebel camp and on August 12, 1862, 
Union troops engaged Boone’s Regiment at Manchester in St. Louis County. The Confederates scattered 
and were able to escape. A second attack on August 18 surprised them at their camp on the Meramec 
River and resulted in the capture of 49 prisoners. Map insert shows Rebel Bend – a large crescent 
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shaped bend on the Meramec River in the southwest part of the county. During the Civil War, this area 
was said to provide the best route for secessionists to move back and forth from the city to the south. 
[“Breaking Up of a Rebel Camp on the Meramec River” Poster, WHS, © 2015] 
 
<<<insert Detail of “Rebels Bend” from Gustav Waggner’s 1862 map>>> 
 
 
 
 

 
The State Historical Society of Missouri – Digital Archives 
http://digital.shsmo.org/cdm/compoundobject/collection/dmr/id/15716/rec/1, accessed 4/14/18 
 

The Missouri Republican, August 20, 1862: 

Capture of Forty-Nine Prisoners 

 For some time it has been known that guerilla camps existed 

in the county, but short distances away from the city, and rebels 

have even boldly stated that St. Louis would speedily in their 

hands. To disperse these lawless bands, every means has been and 

is being used. Forces are scouting the country and seeking out 

the guerrillas in their hiding places. They have been remarkably 

successful, and it is more than probable that three fifths of the 

adventurous spirits who have left for the Confederate service 

will speedily find themselves eating prison rations on Gratiot 

Street instead of roaming at pleasure through the country, 

getting substances easily and without compunctions as to whether 

it is paid for or not.  

 Several days ago, we gave an account of the dispersal of a 

body of rebels near Manchester. A portion of the attacking party 

were left behind to learn the whereabouts of other camps. It was 

ascertained that a body of about fifty rebels were resting near 

the Meramec River in Jefferson County. Lt. Schuell started for 

the locality, having with him one company of Schofield Hussars 

and two hundred Home Guards. He used every precaution to prevent 

his approach becoming known and was successful. The rebels, 

camped one mile from the Meramec, were completely surprised, and 

the whole number, forty nine, captured. They are all from the 

county, with the exception of one. They arrived in the city 

during the afternoon, and were at once placed for confinement in 

Gratiot Street prison. Their names are as follows: Capt. 

Nathaniel Ferguson, Lt. Charles L. Kretchmar, Lt. R. L. 

Botteller. Privates: Robert G. Stevens, George O’Flarety, Basil 

Elder, R. G. Coleman, George Shaffner, William Stirling, E. A. 
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Botteller, Jospeh Seiker, Stephen Bacon, Henry Boley, Ferdinand 

Alvarez, Valentine Carney, Charles Ravencraft, Louis J Ramey, 

George A. Vaughn, Isaac Shaw, Stephen E. Fitzwater, James Doss, 

William Doss, John T. Eoff, John K. Baily, William A. Stewart, 

Alton Long, Charles A. Blackburn, Josephus Patterson, John R. 

James, John Maughn, John Stevenson, Josiah Thorn, William Thorn, 

James Vaughn, William Vaughn, Jacob P. Sappington, Mark 

Sappington, Francis M. Story, Richard Caulk, Henry Brooks, Thomas 

L. Farris, John W. Davis, Henry Humphrey, Charles Bennett.  

  
Over half of the Confederate soldiers named in the above article have a connection to Meramec 
Township. This is an example which demonstrates that this War was truly neighbor against neighbor. 
 
James Henry Doss and William Lawrence Doss were brothers who enlisted in Boone’s Regiment of the 
Confederate States of America in 1862. The Doss brothers were captured at a rebel camp on the 
Meramec River in August of 1862 and taken to Gratiot Street Prison in St. Louis. James was eventually 
paroled and most likely exchanged for a Union prisoner of war. He went on to fight in several more 
battles before surrendering with his unit in New Orleans in 1865.  
 
William A. Vaughn was also one of Boone’s Regiment Confederate soldiers captured at Rebel Bend and 
taken to Gratiot Street Prison. He is buried at Bethel Cemetery. 
[“150th Anniversary of End of Civil War,” WHS 2015 Calendar, December.] 
 
<<<insert photo of Confederate tombstone at Bethel Cemetery>>> 
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Grand Army of the Republic 
 

Adam Kesselring was a German immigrant who came to the United States in 1844. He served three 
years as a private in the 4th Missouri Calvary, was captured and held as a prisoner of war at Belle Isle 
near Richmond, Virginia. Conditions were dismal at Belle Isle with no barracks and few tents for inmates, 
but Kesselring survived.  
 
Kesselring returned home after the war, settled in Meramec Township, married Katherine Fischer and 
became an active member of the Keeler Post, G.A.R. 
 
Julius Hardt served in Company D of the Pacific Battalion of the Missouri Infantry. “He saw service as a 
member of the Home Guards or Enlisted Men Militia (E.E.M.) for the Union cause in the Civil War. No big 
battles away from home but protecting this neighborhood from bushwhackers and the threatened 
advance of Sterling Price and his Confederates from Arkansas. He was probably in Col. Hildebrands 
Regiment recruited from around present-day Grover and St. Albans.” 
[Letter from W.M. Shankland of St. Louis County, MO to Phil and Alice (grandchildren of Julius), March 7, 
1961.] 
  
Fred W. Berthold served in Company C of the 15th Missouri Infantry. Michael Bouquet served for three 
years in Company D of the 2nd Missouri Artillery and was discharged in February of 1865 at Little Rock, 
Arkansas.  
 
There were approximately two million Union soldiers in the Civil War. Twenty-three percent of those 
soldiers were immigrants, half of which were born in Germany. Of those soldiers, approximately 30,000 
were German Missourians who served in the Union Army. 
[“150th Anniversary of End of Civil War,” WHS 2015 Calendar, November.] 
 
The Grand Army of the Republic was a national fraternal organization made up of Union Army veterans 
who served in the Civil War. Founded in 1866 in Illinois the G.A.R. reached nearly half a million members 
at its peak in 1890. The organization became a powerful political lobby that supported Republican 
candidates including Ulysses S. Grant, championed voting rights for black veterans and urged Congress 
to establish pensions for veterans.  
 
The Keeler Post, No. 152, named after Daniel N. Keeler, a private in the 8th Missouri Volunteer Infantry, 
was one of nearly six hundred G.A.R. posts that were active in Missouri between 1866 and the 1940s.  
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The initial organizational meeting for the Keeler Post (held at home of Henry Hencken) was reported in 
the February 28, 1884 issue of the St. Louis County Watchman: 
 

D.N. Keeler Post. I had the pleasure of attending a meeting held 

last Saturday [23d] at Dutch Hollow for the purpose of organizing 

a post of the Grand Army of the Republic. I have attended, during 

my residence in St. Louis County, a number of meetings for 

different purposes but at none of them have I ever witnessed such 

feelings. Men who twenty-three years ago were in the prime of 

life and sprang to arms at their country’s call, to-day look at 

them. Some of them crippled and carrying the battle scars. To see 

those men meet and shake each other’s hands, the grip they gave 

each other; to see those eyes flash when they looked on each 

other. In two instances, W. C. Pullen and Adam Kesselring who 

have been residents of Meramec township for a number of years, 

had not met each other since they were prisoners of war at Belle 

Island I can not find language to describe the feelings of such 

men. The time, two o’clock, having arrived for the meeting to 

organize, R. C. Allen was called to the chair and F. W. Steines 

made secretary. By request R. C. Allen stated the object of the 

meeting, after which nearly all the old soldiers came forward and 

enrolled them selves for muster, which will take place at 

Allenton Saturday, March 8, 1884. The name adopted for the post 

is D. N. Keeler who enlisted from Meramec Township in 1861 in the 

8th Missouri Volunteers and lost his leg at the battle of Fort 

Donelson, and after its amputation served as clerk in the 

quartermaster’s department, until the end of the war. Now his 

remains rest in the private graveyard on the farm of R. C. Allen, 

marked by a marble monument erected to his memory by R. C. Allen. 

It is the wish of the soldiers that you be present with us at our 

next meeting. I will have to come to a close as I do not wish to 

take up too much space in your valuable paper. 

 
 
Meetings of Post No. 152 were first held at the Hencken home (located on the grounds of the present-
day Wildwood Historical Society) in Dutch Hollow and later at the Kreienkamp General Store in Melrose.  
There were 98 veterans listed in the Original Record Book of the Keeler G.A.R. Post #152. Of these 98 
veterans, 55 of those men were born in Germany, Prussia and Hanover. 
 
In 1868, the G.A.R. established “Decoration Day,” known today as Memorial Day, and convinced the 
federal government to provide tombstones for Civil War veterans. Often the veterans’ tombstones 
identified the veteran as a G.A.R. member’s. The Grand Army of the Republic was disbanded in 1956 
when its last member died. 
 
<<<<<Beg Sidebar>>>>> 
 
While the Grand Army of the Republic was disbanded in 1956, the Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil 
War organization is active. This organization was organized in 1881 and chartered by Congress in 1954 is 
the legal successor to the G.A.R. (www.suvcw.org) 
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On Saturday, November 13, 2010, the Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil War led a dedication of the 
Civil War Marker for the grave marker for Pvt. Henry Hencken. The service was adapted from an 1880s 
G.A.R. burial service.  
 
<<<insert photo Henry Hencken Sr Civil War gravestone marker>>> 
 
<<<insert photos of ceremony>>> 
 
On November 24, 2001, the Sons of Union Veterans dedicated the Monument for the D.N. Keeler G.A.R. 
Post #152 at the Kreienkamp Store in Melrose.  
 
<<<insert photo(s) of the ceremony, if can find>>> 
 
The fraternal organization of the United Confederate Veterans was the Confederate Army counterpart 
to the G.A.R. The Sons of the Confederate Veterans was organized in 1896 and continues today. 
(www.scv.org) 
 
<<<<<End Sidebar>>>>> 
 
 

 
GAR photo in front of Kreienkamp store, circa 1888 
WHS image collection 
 
The photograph of the Kreienkamp General Store shown above was taken in 1888. Emil Julius 
Kreienkamp and his wife, Emilie Caesar Hardt, are standing on the steps. Meetings were held in the right 
section of the building which was called Melrose Hall. 
 
 


